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HISTORICAL NOTES O THE MISSCURI RIVIR FROM THE
MOUTH OF THE MARIAS TO FORT PECK RESERVOIR

The dete contained in this report have been gathered to provide an
historicel background for that section of the Missouri River between
its jmction with Marias River and the upper end of the Fort Peck
Reservoir. Fere the Missourl forces its woy through s rugged and
reletively wild area, pascing down by a succession of rapids thiough
e valley vhich is in places rocky, compressed and barren, and in
cthers, brosd, elluvisl and plezsantly timbered with willows and
colionwoolss; . The essenvially step-like charscter of the river has
czuged this portion to be kuown informally as the "breaks of the
Missouri." Though nov rel-tively unimportent, this stretch of river
has o rich and significant pest vhich is yet within recall in a
setiing nearly unimpeired to this day.

- Introduction =

In speaking of the lmportance of the Miesovri River during the period
1805 to 1881, Chittenden said th:t its history was the history of the
country through which It floved, }/ znd certainly everything was done
with reference to it. The Lowis and Clark expedition tolled westwerd
up thet sinvous veterway towerd the distent Pacific Ocean, snd it was
the pethwey by vhich they returaed to civilization. Fur traders,
from Venuel Lisa ond Major Henxy to the practical end of that business
about 1860, moved their supplies and goods up-river, by dug-out canoe,
Hackinaw or keel-boat, and £inally by the power of steam, returning
thely furs snd robes to St. Louis by the ssme means. The movenent of
troops ond the establiskment of garrisons in the !Missouri basin wee
dictated by availsbllity of river transportation, and the opening of
the Hontera-Idsho country by the gold mirvers during the sixties slso
wag founded mainly on lMissouri River steamboal trensportation. Esrly
sevtlenient wos equally dependent upon the river.

Conatruction of the Nerxthern Pocific and Great Worthern reilrocads
duving the years folicwing 1881 rapidly destroyed the importance of
the HFipsouri River as en artery of “ransportation, so that it could

be seid, st the turn of the century, thet its influence upon the
western covntry h=d cessed to exist. The moderm highwey system
developed since thet Glne has also largely ignored the river, leaving
portions of it even more iscolated than they were one-hundred years

880, saving here anad thers something of s past which is today difficult
te comprehend.



Fortwnately, the statement thet "In the most gbsolute sense its glory
has departed, end not a trgee is left to remind the modern observer
of ite former greatness,"s/ is not cuite true of the upper Missouri
River. Along the bresks, there are undisturbed campsites of Lewis
end Clexrk, repids which rcmember grect men of the fur trade era -
James Kipp, Iouis Dauphin and their like, place nomes such as Woodhavk
Creck, IoBarge Rock and Cozl-benks Ianding, left from the deys of the
B'EEBJEJJOE':.; men, end, at several points upon the vriver's banks, are the
sites of not-quite~forgotten forts - Chardon and Piem.p, of the fur
trede, and Camm Coolie, of the Army. So long as the énduring printed
word can be related to the timeless natursl scene, something of the
importence of the Missouri River in the history of the Americen West
will remain within our grasp.

With thet in mind, datc has Deen gathered to relete theé more important
points salong 138 miles of the Missouri breaks with their historic pest.
There has been no attempt to be exhaustive; rather, this is a drifter's
view of river history ~ fleeting snd possibly provocative.
li
:

- Points Along the River =

Mile 0.0, st the confliuence of the Meriss and Missouri rivers,
The beginning is mede et a point of particular significance, of which
Capboin lsrk wrote on June 2, 1805: " . . . to a point between two
lrrge wivers one of which is 362 yd and the 2nd or right hand fork is
200 yds wide. cazmed on the 1ar chore om_:osite the junction of
theoe rivers.“3 Farly the following morning camp was moved to the
point formed between the two streams, where the expedition settled
down to consider which branch was the Missouiis

As Capbaein Iewis analysed their situstion on the 3vd, "to mistake the
stream at this period of the season, with wo months of the traveling
sesaon having now elapsed, and to ascend such stream . » . further
bhefore we could inform curselves . . . end then to be ebliged to
weturn and take the other streem would not only loose us the whole

gegson but would prohjlsr €o disheerten the party thot it might defeatl
the objective ¢ & M ottempt wes made to elarify the situation
by sending out two exploving perties, one up each branch, to determine
whieh wWes the mejor river. Mo clezr opinion could be formed after
five deys hod been spent investigating both 4o 2 considerzble distance;
20, Coptein Lewis courageously undertook the decision on June 8th,
"heing fully of opinion tha.t it (the right hend) was neither the main
stream, nor that which 1t would be edvissble for us to take, I deter~
mined to give it e neme ami in honour of Miss laris We-d. called it
Horiats River. "2/ The lady thus honored was Marls Wood, e young cousin
of Captzin Lewis.



The other members of the expedition did not egree with Clsrk's
identification of the streams, yel they cheerfully began the con-
struction of an underground "cache” for the snfe-keeping of "articles
smoumting to scbout one thousand pounds weight.” That, 2nd hauling
of the large dugouvt cence or "periocgue” onto the bank, Yhere it
couvld he hidden under biush, occupied the 9th and 10th.~ Hsd {the
crucial decision heen otherwise, how different the outcome of the
expedition might kave been!

During the yeers following the passage of the Lewls and Clark expedition,
the Blackfoot Indisns. whose cowniry laoy upon the headwaters of the
Missousri, showed such an uncompromising hatred for Americens that the
penetration of their territory by treppers was effectively prevented.
The animus has been attributed to an unfortunate collision between
members of that tribe end an exploring party from the returning Lewis
end Clark expedition, but, whatever the reason, the country upon the
upper Missourl was closed until 1830.

In thot yezr the Americen Fur Company obtained a foothold through a
brillient but desperate ruse. An old trepper by the nome of Jacob
Berger, who had seen service smong the Blackfoot peoples in Crznede,

was ‘dicpatched from Forl Union, at the mouth of the Yellowstone, with
a3 piell perty and presents suitable for coneluding a commercial peace.
Fortunately, his 1ittle party discovered the Indians £irst end was eble
to prepere a grand gpproach to a villege of Piegans. The boldness of
the maneuver, with the fact that Berger was recognlzed by some of the
tribesmen, saved the emissaries from "the butcher shop.™

A nurber of the Piegans accompanled Berger's party back to Fort Union,
where the Indisns were feted and promised thet & trading post would
be ectaeblished the following season at the mouth of the Mariams River.
Accordingly, Jomes XKipp, = Conadian of Germen descent and a veteran
of the fur trsde upon the lower Missouri River, left Fort Inion in
July 183L.7/ "with 75 men and an outfit of Indian goods." & After a
tedious, up-river voyage the party arrived at "the mouth of the Marias
River und selected the point of land hebween the two streams for the
proposed establiszhment. It was be gbout the middlie of October,” 9/
:nd was "called Fort MeKenzie." 19/ Fowever, in conformity to = useage
of the time, the post was better known as Fort Plegen, from the gub-
tribe of the Blsckfeet in whose country it was located . . ." 11

During the winter of 1831-.32, Jsmes Kipp did ~ thriving business with
the Indi-ns, then sbandconed his rather temporary post in the spring

to return to Fort Union with the furs gathered from the upper country.
With regerd to the destruction of the first Fort McKenzile, or Plegan,



there are two stories which are current: Flondrau says, "the Indisns,
annoyed becavse the trading stntion wes closed, buyned it efter the .. .
depaxture of the traders,” while Moximilian indicates the first

fort was deliberstely rpzed, steting that "es the situetion at the fort
was subsequently found to be wafevoreble or HMitehell, who succecded
Mr. Kivp, tronsfered the trading post.” i Larpenteur corroborates that,
by adding, "The houses at the mouth of the Morias were burned after
- the compeny moved to Brule bottom," 14/ yheve the second Fort McKenzie,
o1 Piegan, was built. -

The site et the mouth of the Marias River wes not sgoin importent unbil
the eastzblishment of steamboat service on the upper Missouri. To briefly
troce the development of thet mpde of transportetion, it is noteble thot
the first such boet to operate upon the river was the Independence,

which aseended for 200 miles in the year 1810, In the spring of 1832,
the Yellowstone, a steamer belonging to the Americen Fur Company, reached
Fort Unlon st the mouth of its nsmesake river. But, cbove that poimt, -
_1ittle progress wes mefle because the vessels then evailleble were not
 adequate for the pavigation of a stream so beset with sandbars, repids
and varying diages of water.

By the middle of the century, steomboat development had reached e

point where e vessel sulteble for use on the Upper Misgouri was at last
availoble, If was the shallow-drafi, stern-vheeler with balanced
rudder. Broad-bottomed, drawing es litile s eighteen Inches of weter,
with twin engines driving en enormious stern~wheel, end moneuvered by
balenced rudders which would remaln managesble in the maelstrom created
by the vheel, they weres probably the most irngeniously .efficient craft
of their time.

In the spring of 1859, the American Fm Company sent such e boat up

the Missouri River. It wzs the Chippews, which mennged t0 reach a
point only 15 miles below Fort Benton to discharge ite freight et
Brule Bottom, where the second Fort MeKenzie hed formerly stood. 15/
The seyvice thus inibtipted vas besebt with tremendous difficulties, in
fact, tke Chippews made only one more trip before 1t ceught fire and
‘b‘_l.er vp at Diszster Bend; yet, the discovery of gold in Montana =nd
Idako creeted a demand for freight transportation which tempted many
less sevviceable boats into the mountain trede, for "{he profits of the
vpper river commerce vere too great to be ignored.”

Beginning in 186k, bootks withdrawn from the lower river began to eppear
above Fort Unfon, %7/ ond cnough resched the wouth of the Mariss River
in succeeding years Lo mele it an important place for the discherging
of cergo. This led to an ottempt to establich e town at that point to
serve as the -.emimxs af a wegon voad to Fort Benton. Accordingly,
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in 1865, "The Ophir Townsite Company surveyed & towm ond offered

laots for sale. A steam sevmill was purchased and men sent down to

get out logs, preparatory to building e toym. On Moy 25, vhile at
work in the timber three miles from the lending, ten men were sur-
prised by a band of Blackfoot Indians and all were nassacred. Four

of the men were sczlped. The Indi=ns mag a hosty retreat and crossed
the line into British territory . » " 29/ Steamboais continued to
unload freight at the Merias River lending, from vhence lighter draft
boats moved it up the river to Fort Benton by "double-tripping.”

Mile 1.9, Archer's Island. This large 1slond is now attached to
the north shore, yet as late es 1309 it presented en obstacle to naviw
gotion lmown as "Archer's bar.” It is one of the places where Neihavdt
came %o grief in his boat Atgm II during the trip immortelized in
the bock The River and I.

Mile 14.8, The Iewis and Clark cempsite of Jime 1-2, 1805. The
encamprient was made on the small flat oo the north side of the river
about O.b mile sbove Boggs Island. It wes described by Coptein C]T,J'L_,
who wrote on June 2nd:  "to o grove of trees in a bend, on IgxT slde
"at the entrance of & rum, pessing e spmell Ie_tmd on the stars side at
2 M8, obove vhich we encamped on the Dtar= side.” 20/ Tt should be noted
that the descriptions of Iewis cmnd Clark are wnfortunately complex; in
cese where & relocation of o site is invelved, the text has beea supple-
mented by a careful re~plotiing of the courses and distances which were
a pext of their recoxd. In thet menner, it was possible to conform
‘their geographicel knowledge to present maps..

iile 19.7, Coel Banks Iearding. This point, st vhich the CGreat
Horthern Reilroad's tracks diverge from the river, is reminiscent of
one of the major problems of the steauboat men - fu Since "the
averege boat burned about twenty-five cords of lzarc'f. or thirty
cords of cottonwood in twenty-four hours' steaming.” the tidber
along the bottoms was scon reduced 40 where it was hard to obtain.
Hence, efforts were made to ubtilize the bitwminous coal so common along
the wpper Missouri. According to Coptein Gramt Morsh, neither he "nor
ony other of the steuzhoat men were able to malke eny use of the native
coal deposits.” When cdded to the boiler firveboxes, the coal would
reérlen a.;m:nd the erlgcs witkout burning. ' ' :

Mile 33.L, the Lewis ond Clark campsite of "‘b:f 31-June 1, 1805

The encampment wes on the east shore of the river ot the mouth of Exgle
Creek. ' Captain Clark descrides it in his e&tmr for Mey 3lst as "tke
TODer 1}art of = btirbored bottom on the Ster—= glde above the entrance of
a stone wall creek effording water and 28 yds wide just ebove the mouth
of which we emcermped.” 23/ Elliot Coues notes that the "Stonewsll Creek"
of lLewis end Clark "will be found aaﬁry or Hey‘s Creek on some mops
and as Eagle Creek on better ones. 2



ile 33.9, laBorge Rocke An imposing lendmoxk sbove the vest
shore, probably named for Capiain Joseph IsBorge, the more prominent
of two noted brothers vho captained Missouri River stermboats. ILaBorge
was the principal informant of Hirsm M. Chittenden dueing the complis-
tion of his noteble work on steambozt history. The two volumes are
virtually e biogrephy of Coptain IaBarge, vho ranked with Captain
Cront Mersh among the most capsble and fearless novigators of the upper
river.

In eddition to e caplein, nost boats also cexrled one or more pilots
{dnly remembered by Pilot Roek, at Mile 28.8). The river pilots were
a haughty, independent breed, so given to independent decision that
pany cepleins were unyilling to leave the pllot house until forced to
by utter exhaustion. Capteins who were also capable pilots, as LaBorge
end Mersh were; conaidered theuselves fortunaie.

Mile 37.6, Kipps Repids, also known es the Fagle Ropids from the
spire-~like rock neexr the east shore. Nelbardt eays that this rapid
can be identified from & considerable distance upstream by "a sibilent,
metallic note as of a tense sheet of egilk drewn rapidly over a thin
gteel edge,” =nd he 2dds that it made other ropids they had passed
through look like mere ripples on the surface. 23/ The legitimete rome
of this cascade of vhite~water was given for Jemes Kipp, who built the
Pirst treding post of the American Fur Compony in the Blackfoot country.
In 1847 he was described es'a herdy vetrven, woward of 65 years old,
vho for mapy years had had a farm near Independence, Mo., and had made
the journzey to the Yellowstone and back about 20 times.” ﬁ

‘Mile 39.6, Cothedral Rock. A great bluff, resembling a mighty
ruin, located on the west side of the river. Vhile Lewis and Clark did
not give & neme to thig particuler formation, it is described in the
entry for May 3lst. 2/ The name is of late origin.

Hile M. 62 Bole-in-the-Wall. Another natural festure on the
west side of the river vhich has received a descriptive name in relatively
recent times. Neihardt describes the "Flbow Rapids" at the base of
great rock as "deep and safe - much like an exeggerated mill-rece,"
but Lt. August V. Kaubz, speaking from his experience in 1860 says:
"June 30. We pas e%?he Hole in the Wall. Ve were wmable to get up
with the Chippeve. It wvas one of the places the little steamboat
had to resort to the practice of "wzrping" sccoemmlished by putting men
ashore to carry s heavy tow-line to e suiteble point above the rapids.
There it was attached t0 a "dendman" buried cross-ways on the beach,
and the boat was hauled up the rapids by winding in the line with a
capstan, or "steanm nigger.”



¥ile 46.5, Staomboot Rock. A columnar lantmaykz on the bluff north
of the river. Ite distonce from the Gulf of lexico, by the combined
reclkoning of the Misslzsipol River and Missocurl River Commiesions, was
@ven s 2,215 miles, 2/ g The vork of the Mizesouri River Commission
in establishing the chonnel milecge was & boon tc shippers, who were
frequently victimized by the readiness of captalns to over-estimte the
freight haul.

 Mile 9.0, the lewis 2ud Clavk campsite of iy 30-31, 1805. The
encammmen’ was made on the north shore neerly opposite Sheep Shed Coulee
end 0,3 mile upstream from Pablo Islond., It wos described by Coptein
Cloxk on May 30th, as follows: "to o grove of trees in a bend, on the
Lexd side at the entrence of a run, pessing a sall Telrnd g the E%‘l;f.).vg

side at 2 M8, sbove uidch we encamped on the Stars side.” 3

Iile 51,1, Feblo Ripids. The treschercua naturce of the upper
Hasovrd, perticularly vhere lover river boats were concerned, was
shovn when the Marion, commanded by Coptoin Abe Wol?, went hopelessly
egrovrd in the wvopids in 186k, Captein Mersh brought the Inells down
fron Jors Temton, rescved the passengers and freight, salveged the
nachkinery, end returped to Fort Benton where the wnforiurate vessel's
equiment was =old. Wolf Ielend, ocne mile below the top of the
rapids; may heve been ramed for C:pituin VWolf.

Mile Bh.5, the Iewis cnd Clexk campsite of Hay 29-30, 1805, The
neewpment wes made on the north shore pecr the lover end of Snexth
Bogtoms Im his entr;g for ¥ay 29th, Coptain Clexk says, "to int of

Weodland on the Start side wheve we encomped £or the night.”

Mile 55.4 !‘u rov Niver. This is the "Clawghter River" of lLewis
cnd G‘La.rk, 3 cleing iis reme from the buffelo jurm pessed a few miles
dﬂnri\zer, on tbe soxrth side, and described as "a precipice sbout 120
feet nigh. under vhich lay scattered the fragnents of a.t least 100 car-
cagses of buffalces, EL]. ‘hough the water which hed Haahed avay the lower
paxt of the hill must heve carried off many of ‘the d.eada These buffaloes
~hed Been chased down the precipice in = way very comuon on the Missocuri,
vy vhieh vast herds cre destro,;ed in a moment.” 33/ (Probable location
of the Emug)between miles 59.8 end 60.6, though it could have been

a.t 1.0).

m:l.oﬁ Coues expresces c poscibility that the precenit Arrow Creek may
not be VSleughter River s, on the basis of certain maps vhicg ve mis-
'olaced “the streem (‘wdlow's -nd Pwining's, in particular). Eovever,

& replotting of the lewis and Cl:zxk courses and distonces shows the
'I;\-.'o to _be the same.



Mile 62.5, Deadren Rapids. This is the "Ash Rapids" of Lewis and
Clarlk, seceiving its original name from & few ash trees, "the first we
have seen for a great distance . . . 37/ The present mome earlier
in & nore sinister form. In 1860, it was "Drownded Men rgpid,” while
in 1376, the neme was uced as "Drowmed Man's Rapids.” Neibardt, in
1609, kney the placce as "Dead Man's Papids, a very turbulent stretch of
vater." 40/ But, whether the tragedy wes plural or singular, it secms
likely the pams harkens to some iwater-aceident of the days before the
steomboat. Very likely, the unfortumates were voyegeurs of lovw estate =
unworthy of specific remembrance vhere life was held so cheaply.

It is elso probable that the ash itrees fell to .the axe of "That Englishe
man, Cowrtney, vho runs the woodyard at the head of Drowned Man's
Rﬁpiﬁau" Q—/

Mile 64.0, site of Camp Cocke, established to keep the Missouri
River open to pavigation. As an ouvtgrowth of the Siocux War which began
in Minnegoto while the Civil War was in progress, Irdlans haressed the
Migsouri River comerce with inereasing ferocity after 1863. It was
necessary to establish military pests along the upper Missouri River,
with gavrisons at Fort Buford (et the mouth of the Yellowstone). Camp
Cocke (about a mile ebove the Judith), end Fort Benton, which was the
head of rpavigation. > ‘

Caup Goolis, the post with which we are most concerned, was established
by Major William Ciinton, of the 13th U.S. Infentry, on July 11, 1866. L3/
Buildings were constructed with the ipadeguate tools and the poor
materiels a¥ hand, resulting in queriers which were considered scarcely
habitable when inspected by Col. D. B. Sackett. They are éescribed as
"entirely of cottomwood logs with dirt flcors and roofs and no windows,
as there were no casings for them and no glass." b/ The rain soaked
through the carthen rcofs to Torm muddy puddles on the floors in the summer,
andl the winter snows penetrated belween the wall logs to blanket the
intericrs in winter, while fleap ard bedbugs were lnescepsble., Small
wonder that the soldiers "grew dlsheartened and careless of personsl
appearance, as Colonel Sackett raporied, weering unlempt beards arnd
ragged wmiforms . . ." Morale wes low, desertions were frequent.

A relnforcement of one~hundred men under lieutenant Horrigan arrived by
the steamer Octavie in 1867, buit the voynge generated an international
incident when @& Fenian extremist among the predominantly Irish soldiers
cold-bloodedly mudered a British officer who was traveling as a first-
class pessenger. 45/ The reluctence of the officers to interfere and
see Justice done was beyornd the comprehension of the boat's crew and
the other passengers. Also smong the arrivels at Camp Cooke in the
summer of 1867 was Mrs. Sareh Eliznbeth Canfield, who thought the post
better than scome, for "she had the compenionship of four other officers’
wives." 46/
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Thouvgh Camp Cocke has been characterized ss isoleted and useless, it
hed its day of glory. In 1868 the Siouz made 1ife dangerous encugh

for the little gerrison of four corpanies, totaling ebout 428 officers
anfl men. ___/ In April the Indiang ran off thirty.four horses and mules,
and on May 17 the post was atiacked by an estimated 2,500 warriors, who
vere repulsed. 4B/ To deys later, o detachment under Lieutenant
Edwords fought an engagement with seventy-Tive Sioux at the mouth of
the Musgelshell River, while other detachments fought on the Musselshell
and Yellowstone Rivers on the 2ith, and at Shield's River on June 13th 1_&2/

With improverent in the situation along the upper Missouri, 1t was
considered advisable {o sbandon Camp Cooke in 1870. It is likely the
soldiers who served there were glod enocugh to see the end of the first
rermanent milltery esteblishment in Montaens.

Fort Clagett, the “small Indien trading post, of %wo log houses,"
located near Camp Cocke is also gome, 50/ though its former site is
indicated on the map.

Miie 65.2, site of Fori Chardon. Across the river and scmewhat
dowmsirean Zrom Camp Cooke and Fory Clagett, is the location of an
older Pur-irade fort. Its esteblishment resulied from & shameful event
which occcurred at the second Fori McKenzie, on Brule Bottom above the
Faxrias River.

At thet post in the Bleckfool country, the trader, Francoils Chardon,
with the help of a depraved clerk named Alexarder Harvey, avenged a
small wrong by ervanging e massacre of some Indiang, The vengeful
BlackPeet forced the eberdomment of Fort MeKenzie in the spring of 1843,
end Chardon moved down to the Judith River where he buillt another pest
and nemed it for himsel?. 51/ It vas poorly locaited for trading, end
was in turn, ebondoned and burned when Culbertson mede peace with the
Blackfeet in 1845, ellowing esteblishment of a post near present Fort
Benton. 52/

Mile 65.%, Judith River. This stream, which enters the Missouri
from the scuth, hes retained 1ts Iewls ard Clark nome, It wes first
called the "Bighozn" by Captain Iewis, for the "grest abundsuce of the
Argelia or Bighorped animels in the high country through which this
river passes,” edding, "Cap. C. who ascended this R, much higher then
I éid has thought proper to call it Judieths River." 53/ The name
honored Miss Julie Haucock of Fincastle, Virginia, a een year~old
l2s nicknemed "Judy." Ohe became the wife of Ceptain Clark in 1808,
bore him five children and died in 1820, at the ege of 29. 54/

It vas from the mouth of the Judith River in 1837 that emallpox wag
brought to the Blackfcot pecple, Alexander Harvey was bringing up the
annuel ocubtfit for Fort MeKenzie (Brule) when e case of the dread disease

9



broke out in his party. FHe prudently stopped with the cargo at the

Judith, but the Piegans believed they were being duped and inslsted

thet the cargo be brought wp. That wes £ 3 ne and the scourge
was loosed emong them with terrible resulls.

Other events vhich transpired at thet ploce were less deadly. In 1846,
the Jesuit missionery, Father DeSmet “travelled eastward from St. Moxy's
Mission in the Bitter Root Valley with a band of Flatheads. On the
Judith River they met their hersditary foes the Rlackfeet ond due to_
work of the missioneries o lLind of peace was agreed %o emong them." 26/

Almost on the same spot,; nine years later, a more Important council wes
held. It was one of those grand councils intended to convince the
Indisns that they should teke up the vhite man's wey. Opecifically, it
wos an instrumentality of that policy vhich proposed to gather the wild
tribes on definite reservations. The plan vas to hold the council at
Fort Benton, where &1l the Indians of the northern Rocky Mountains
could essemble to negotiate directly with two commissioners. Isasc I.
Stevens, vho was also Governor of Washington Territory, came overlend
from the wveet with his party, while Alfred Cummings came up the Missouri
River with the supplies and presents. Bub the mismonsgement of Cummings
80 deleyed arrilval of the cargos that it wes necessary to shift the
council site downstream to a point the boats could reach sooner. Hence,
the last-minute shift to the mouth of the Judith River.

The gite 1s described as "a wide, level plain covered with a noble
grove of huge cottonwoeds. It wee on the left bank of the Missouri,
nearly opposite but below the mouth of the Judith . . . The governor's
camp wes pitched under the lofty cottonwoods, and lower down was the
cemp Of the crev of men who had dragged the boats up the river. They
were a hundred strong, mostly Germans, having meny fine voices among
them, end were fond of spending the evenings in singing." Cummings,
vho continued to play the obsiyuctionist, lived on ane of the boats.

Representztives of eight turibes were peaceably essembled: "Blackfeet,
Blocds, Pie s Gros Ventres, Nez Perces, Koo-te-neys, Pend d' Oreilles,
Fletheads." The council requived ten days, and Chittenden says of
it, "The Indiens deported with their lsvish presenits. The era _of the
fur treder had ended and that of the Indien sgemt had come.”

Mile 65.6, Pl Islapd. This is the "emall willow Island" mentioned
by Lewis and Claxk os oppesite the mouth of the Judith,

lMile 66.8, Dog Creek. ILewle end Clerk nemed this stream, which
falls in from the sowthk, "Bull Creck from the circumsiance of a Buffalow
Bull swimming from the opposite side and comeing cut of the river
imedestely scross one of the Perogues withcut sinking or injureing sny
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thing in the Perogue, and pessing with great violence thro’ our camp

in the night mokeing 3 engles without hurti_gj/a man, altho they lny

in every direction, and it wes very dark." Coues has had his dry
1ittle Joke over the name change from Bull to Dog by suggesting thati saga
cartographer might win fame by combining the two into “Bulldog Creek." ._2/

Mile 68.8, the Lewis end Clark campsite of Moy 26-29, 1805. The
encampment wes on the north side of the river, opposite Bull (now Dog)
Creek, and just below the present croesing of the Iohse~-PN ferry.

Mile Tl.7, Thompeon's Creelk. It ie not possible to egree with
Coues that present Birch Creek (Mile 69.3) is the stream Oaptaigfwis
enlled "Thompsons Creel ofter & velusbhble menber of ocur party."

The soldier thus honored ves John B. Thompson, not "Thomson,” o8 shown
on Ceptrin Clerk's chovb. OF

Mile 72.0, Iron City Islands. The name recells the steamboat
Iron City, which wus ettacked by Indians vhile grounded et these islands.
The event is undoubtedly orne of those typified by the bit of doggerel:

"So there we stuck on that doggone bar
And in scme two minutes found

Thers was cther folks in that neck o' woods
That knew we were aground.” _.27

brief entries at Fort Union. 'July 3, 1866. Fubicon arr. from cbove o o -
brought news of the ki of mate of the Iron City by Indiens; her
wherectoyt uncertain,” and, "July 14, 1866. Ivon City exr. from
chove:"

Whot we know of the Iron City'e trevall is conteined in larpenteur's

During those troubled years when the Sioux were herassing the Missouri
River steemboats, the pilot houses of upper-river boats were sheathed
in boller plate, vhich gave master ard pilot adequate protection, rnd
the passengers vere relatively safe behind the boxes, sacks end bails
of cargo piled slong the bulwerks end railings, but the crew, when
vorking a grounded vessel off e shoal, was always very much exposed.

Mile 75.1, Callatin Ropids. This formidable stretch of water
tekes its name from e steanboet azccident of a different sort. Again
from Iarpenteur's record et Fort Union, "QOct. 6, 1867. Callatin err.
from above in bed Bhagg_. guerds all gone, ete.; hed been reported a
wreck; but got off."

Mile £0.2, D=uphin Repilds. Lewis and Clark passed uwp the Missouri

at & high stege of vater, and therefore missed this mighty obstacle to
navigation, where "the channel was narrow, and no rocks eppeared ebove
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the surface.” 63/ The neme seems %o have been given in fur trade
days in commemoration of a duckinrg Touis Deuphin suffered therz. OF
that event, Maximilian says, "We passed several rapids, one of vhich
vos called Deuphin Bapid, after cne of our engagfs ; Who had fallen
inte the river at thic ploce.” _T_Q/ Louwis Dauphin was a famous hunter
and guide, who hod many hair-breedth escapes, and was killed by the
Sioux in 1863. _"(_l/

Returning to Maximilian's trip down the Missourl from Fort McKenzie

to Fort Union, 1t doubtless wes one of the most blzarre voyages on

the upper river. Despite his royal vitles and scientific accomplish-
wents, Prince Maximilien of Wied, fitted into the Americar Vest as

17 he bhed been borm there. Described as "a shabby, toothless, bald,
oldish gentleman in & white felt hat and a palr "of the greasiest
trousers on the Missouri, " 72/ he had hunted, observed and collected
on the outer fringe of civilization, and, in the summeyr of 1833, was
ready to return to his Cerman primeipality with a large collectica

of Indian Items end live animals. Trancportotion down the Missouri
was provided by "a leaky, overloaded barge . . . ercwded with speci-
men cases eud crates containing bears, squlrrels and other interesting
livestock., Besgides Maximilian, his servant Dyeidopple and the crtist
Boduer, there were a cock and threc young Ceuadien Boatmen 4o whom
the mavigation of the eraft was entrusted." 73/ The prince won through
0 Fort Union with his crazy avk, only to lose the cargo in & steam
boat disaster.

Ae already mentioned, the Deuphin Rapids were a major obstacle to
Steamboat navigation on the upper Missouri. Iieuterant Keutz, who
was on the Chi rm. on its second trip wp the river, says, “we got
over the »ap e 29, 1860), oud we had to pull the bonts over
them with roaps . . . a8 these were consldered the worst, we left
cur Mackinaw boat." T4/ Tie Meekindyw, = suay.backed barge, built
with 1ts deepest dreft et bow and stern so that it conld be worked
over sand-bars more readily, had béecn brought alomg to use lightering
cargo over the rapids. In the cose of the Chippews and the Key West,
it wa® ot needed, but the records.of later years phow that many
steauboate did not mansge to nsgot 1e.te the Davphin Rapids. During
1869 eloune, & comsiGerable ?1eet; wng engeged ebove the rapids bauling
up the freight left by lese poverful bonts; these “double-trippers"
vere the Cora, Siiwvsr Bow IIoz'tiz Alsbema, Big Horn, Only Chance, Fanny
», Violia Do Andvew Ackley, Humbeviile, Mimer, Silyer
_____,ZE.‘EE &2}3 Pever Balen Ef

Though the evils of steambcat rocing were more aepparent on the Missouri
than on the Misslssippi R.Lver, the internse riwalry beiween capteins
oceasionally resulted in a race. One guch cccurred bhelween two Ffine
boats; the Nellie Peck, Captain Grant Mexsh, and the Far West, Captain
Mayt Coulsom, Uney starbted from Siocux City with the Tolile Feck slightly
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in the lead up to the Dewphin Rapids, vhere the Far Wept did dettor
passing thet obstacle and therchby gained the lead to Fort Benton.

On the downstream run, the Fellie Peck again had the best of it umtil
the cub pilct made o bad guess and grounded the boat. As a yesult,
the For West recched Sioux City thwee hours sheed, the winmer in a

3,000 iIe contest. 76/

Mile 82.1, the lewis end Clark campsite of May 27-28, 1805.
Thie cncarpment vas on the lover edge of a shellow bottom on the
south slfe of the river. T7/

Mle 92,1, the Lewis and Clark campsite of May 26-27, 1605.
This encompuent on the south shore above Bird Rapid® was deseribed
as being in "the upper point of a small grove of tiwber on I.ar_": side
where we carped for the night.” 78/

Mile 92.%, Bird Rapids. Captain Clark, writing of the events of
May 26th, seys: "In the evening lote we passed a rapid, which
extended guite scross the river we ascended it by the assistance of
e cord & poles » « . in the repid we savw a Dow Elk end hir faun, which
gave rise to the name Fik & foun Riffle.” T9/ Coues believes the "Elk
Repids" to be the ones now called Lone Ping Rapids, 80/ but & carveful
plotiting of courses and dlstances wraveled by ILewls ard Clark on the
26th Goes not support him.

Mile 96,6, Sturgeon Island. lismed for the shovel-hesded sturgeon
conmon in the Missouri River.

Mile 100.%, Bullwhacker Creek. This stream, which enters the
Misso ver from the ncrth, is the "Turtle Creek" of Iewis and
Clark. The original neme was given because turtles were found there.
Nearby are rapids formerly known as "Burdell's Rapids.” 81/

iile 10k.b, Cow Creck. This is "Windsor's Creek” of Iewis and
Clark, described as "on the north, 30 yerds wide, with some running
wobter andl a rocky bed; we called it Windsor's creek, after one of our
party."” 82/ The monctonously bovine ncmenclature of this area (Cow
Creek, Creek, Cow Tsland) was well-established at the time of the
Nez Perce War, and it was near the mouth of Cow Creek that the Nez
Perce village cemped after crossing the Missouri River during the retreat
toword Copnde. It is gbout ten miles north along the trail leading
up Cow Creek to the place where the Indians captured the ox-drawn
supply traln and beat off Major Ilges® smell detachwment of pursuing
voluntesr trocps. 83/

le 105.3, Cow Island. Here the Missourl River is quite shozl,

ML
vith & smail rapid, formerly called "Ficott's Rapid" just below. 84/
The shosls st Cow Island were such en cbstacle that a lapding wvas
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early developed there to receive the cargos of boats unable to ascend
farther because of low woter, It woe sometimes kpown as "Seake
Point." 85/

The %‘ms forced to discherge cargo on the bank &t Cow Island
in 1863, 1864, the American Fur Compeny®s boab put the Indisn
ammities agshore there, though the Company was under conlyact to deliver
them to Foxt Benton. 86/

A eclessic of salvage occurred at Cow Island in 1860 when the steamboet
Temocst was entrepped on the ghoals by felling water:. The vessel left

ulz with the "mountain fleet," but the poor discipline of Captain
J'a.m,ﬂ L. Blegell ellowed sericus urou'ble to develop aboard. Liquor was
dispensed oo freely at the bar, with the result that passengers and
erev were wore often druml than sober. Even before Cow Island wae
reached, e Tight at the dinner table resulted in the killing of a passen-
ger by Engineer Evans, with {the inevitable teking-of-sides by all.

When the Tempesi grovndsd and was leZt otrended by the falling waters,
coptein and crew lacked the will o work free. A mexzsenger was sent to
Helens to inform the owners by telemaph of the vesssl's plight, and

they engnged Captein Grant Mayeh at S4CO per month to save their property.
Ceptain Marsh went from St. Iouls to Selt Iake City on the newly com-
pleted Unjon Pocifie Rallwvay, and from there to Helena and Fort Benton

by horse drewm stege. At Fort Benton, e obtained a Mackinew boat and
erewr, and then drifted dowa the riwex to Cow Island.

AZfairs wboard the stranded Tewmpest wers deplorable, with the bar the
only efficiently operating peet of the boet. Captein Marsh stopped the
sale of liguow, pul the schered-up crew to work with his men and
"pusceeded 1h working the Tempesth cul; of the shoals.” ﬂ/

The method .cg‘i" moving & boot through sheal waters was called Ysparring.”
Spars were "long, heavy timbers vescwbling telegraph poles, and & set

of them, twe in mumber, were alwaya ca;ne& on the gides of the boat
pecr the bow veady for use. When she Yecome lodged on a bar, the spars
vere ralsed end set in the river bolbtom, like posts, thelr tops inclined
somevhat towerd the bow.  Above the. lire of the deck soch vas rigged with
a tackle block over which a manila coble wos pessed, one end being fas-
tened to the gusmle of the beat end the other wourd arownd the capstan.
Ag the capstan was turned and the paddle-whesl rewlvaa., the 'boa.t wag
thus 1ifted and pushed forward." 83/

When the ez Perce Indians reached Cow Islard (their only possible
crossing without boats), there was a ccnsiderable stock-pile of Army
surplies end egquipment there, in the'cere of tvo eivilians and eight
soldiers, who had just been joined by & sergeont.and two soldiers from.
& nearby engineering detachment. Af'ter effecting an orderly and safe
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crossing, to New Perce scouis epproached the barricaded vhite amen
and asked for food for their pcople. That wes denled and they offered
te buy what they nceded, but were unmable to obtain more than a side of
bacon and g halfwsack of herdtack. A misunderstanding soon developed
and £ighting began. '

The little garrison wes driven to cover, after which the Inddans took
what they wanied and set fire to the remalnder. "We Pigured it was
goldier pupplies . . . We bad privilege to do this. It wos In the
War,” according to Peopeo Tholekt., The Cow Ieland depot was the
first opportunity the Nez Perce had Yo replace supplies and equip-
ment lost in the Big Hole battle.

Before leaving Cow Island, it should be noted that 1t wos alsc an
embariotion point for miners returning to the States from Montana and
Ideho. One returning vessel, the Immerizl, took on 300 passengers
there in 1867. Conditions were so on the boat, and the passep-
gers becams 80 atening, that the officers at last cbanioned their
charge and left the Imperiel a dereliect.

Mile 109.1, Weod Havk Cveek. This stream, which enters the
Missouri River from the west, 1s reminiscent of those wood shoppers

who "braved the peril of the Indiang for the sake of selling their wood
at ,eight dollars per cord." Thelr lives were dangerous, and often shors,
with at lesst seven killed by Indians below Fort Benton in the summer

of 1867 alone. 91/

The ccumon sources of wood fuel for steawboats were "rack-heaps,”

piles of drifitwocd; "deadenings,™ or standing deed itrees, and cordwood,
vhich was very unsotisfmctory, 1f green. 92/ Poats were alvays at the
mercy of the Indians when "weooding, ' Hence, many expedients were rescried
to in ordey to minimize the danger. Ceptain LaBarge pleced a steanm
cut-off sew on his deck and carried a yoke of oxen, which he could
quickly put ehore by a large "stagind' to drag a suitable tree sboard.
There it would be cut into fuel wkile the boat was safely undermy.

Mile 111.2, the Lewis and Clark compsite of May 25-26, 1805. This
encoempment wes on the south side, a ¢uerter mile above the head of the
islend which stands against the south shore. 93/

Mile 117.2, Grand Isinnd. ILewis and Clark took note of this
1slend Tn thelr "Courses and distances Mey 25th 1805," 4/ but did not
name it.

Mile 121.8, Iower Two-Calf Island., The island was "so-called
becouse some years since a bufifelo coy was killed upon it, having with
her two calves, a fact nover before observed,” (quoted from the Tt
of an Expedition, 1860). _/ The several islends found here appear o
Be the ercded Traguente of the large "Tee Toland" charted by Lewls and

Claxk. 96/
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Mlle 125,2, the Lewis and Clark campsite of May 24-25, 1805. The
encanpinont was on the south shore, at the upper end of Xucx Bottoms. 97/

Mile 12? Armell'n Creck, This is the "South Mountain Creek" of
Ienris ang vhich Couss cays "is acw attempbed to de called
after some person “':éo&e pams 0o gecgraplers seem to lmow; for he is
Arpel, Annel, Amile, Arnel, ¢ Imile, on wvarious msps, and with ons "1"
or two. In any case I Go not see the sense or justice of thus changing
ILavie avd Clark's names, when ae in the instance of . . . "South Mountain,
they ore absolutely identificble, and were properly published . . .
TAnnell's Creeck, 'forscoth’. Why not Twm's, Dick's, or Herry's? If thie
rivar is enydody'e it is Ievis end Clark's.” 99/

Mile 128.0, Gardipec Eottoms. FProvably named for the besutiful
helf-Diccd by the nome of Eoptiste Cardepic.” 100/ Gardepie vas e
famgve hunter at Fort Union, and he wms concex In several disgusting
epizodes at that post, acconding to Iarpenteur.

- Cmclusion —

As the waters of the Missouri River merge into the waters of the Fort
Peck Reservoir, its history is lost to comprehension in our time. The:
lend which wes once the river's verge is drowned-cud, and the events of
a formor time take on the guality of myth, forever beyonu the affirma-:
tion of the eye. But that portion of the vpper Missourl River from -
the mouth of the Mariae River to the Fort Peck veservoir is no Atlantis,
but rather a place vhere history happensd yesterday, or the day 'before,
anfi vhere the stege lies open to view.
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